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individual adversely affected by an order of
the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration under subsection (a), the Admin-
istrator of the Transportation Security Ad-
ministration shall provide to the individual
and reviewing administrative law judge, con-
sistent with the procedures established under
paragraph (1), an unclassified summary of any
classified information upon which the order of
the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration is based.

(Added Pub. L. 108-176, title VI, §601(a), Dec. 12,
2003, 117 Stat. 2561; amended Pub. L. 115-254, div.
B, title V, §539(]), div. K, title I, §1991(£)(9), Oct.
5, 2018, 132 Stat. 3371, 3643.)

Editorial Notes

REFERENCES IN TEXT

Section 1(a) of the Classified Information Procedures
Act, referred to in subsec. (g2)(2)(A), is section 1(a) of
Pub. L. 96-456, which is set out in the Appendix to Title
18, Crimes and Criminal Procedure.

AMENDMENTS

2018—Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(£)(9)(D), substituted ‘“Ad-
ministrator of the Transportation Security Adminis-
tration” for ‘‘Under Secretary’’ wherever appearing.

Subsec. (a). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(£)(9)(A), inserted
“the” before ‘‘Federal Aviation Administration shall
issue” and substituted ‘“‘Administrator of the Federal
Aviation Administration is notified by the Adminis-
trator of the Transportation Security Administration”
for ‘““‘Administrator is notified by the Under Secretary
for Border and Transportation Security of the Depart-
ment of Homeland Security’’.

Subsecs. (b), (¢), (e). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(£)(9)(B),
substituted ‘‘Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration’ for ‘“Administrator”.

Subsec. (g). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(f)(9)(B), substituted
“Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion” for ‘‘Administrator’ wherever appearing.

Subsec. (2)(2)(A). Pub. L. 115-254, §§539(1), 1991(£)(9)(C),
made identical amendments, substituting ‘(18 U.S.C.
App.))” for (18 U.S.C. App.)”.

Statutory Notes and Related Subsidiaries

EFFECTIVE DATE

Section applicable only to fiscal years beginning
after Sept. 30, 2003, except as otherwise specifically pro-
vided, see section 3 of Pub. L. 108-176, set out as an Ef-
fective Date of 2003 Amendment note under section 106
of this title.

DEEMED REFERENCES TO CHAPTERS 509 AND 511 OF
TITLE 51

General references to ‘‘this title’’ deemed to refer
also to chapters 509 and 511 of Title 51, National and
Commercial Space Programs, see section 4(d)(8) of Pub.
L. 111-314, set out as a note under section 101 of this
title.

CHAPTER 463—PENALTIES

Sec.

46301. Civil penalties.

46302. False information.

46303. Carrying a weapon.

46304. Liens on aircraft.

46305. Actions to recover civil penalties.

46306. Registration violations involving aircraft not
providing air transportation.

46307. Violation of national defense airspace.

46308. Interference with air navigation.

46309. Concession and price violations.
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Sec.

46310. Reporting and recordkeeping violations.

46311. Unlawful disclosure of information.

46312. Transporting hazardous material.

46313. Refusing to appear or produce records.

46314. Entering aircraft or airport area in violation
of security requirements.

46315. Lighting violations involving transporting
controlled substances by aircraft not pro-
viding air transportation.

46316. General criminal penalty when specific pen-
alty not provided.

46317. Criminal penalty for pilots operating in air
transportation without an airman’s certifi-
cate.

46318. Interference with cabin or flight crew.

46319. Permanent closure of an airport without pro-
viding sufficient notice.

46320. Interference with wildfire suppression, law

enforcement, or emergency response effort
by operation of unmanned aircraft.

Editorial Notes

AMENDMENTS

2016—Pub. L. 114-190, title II, §2205(c), July 15, 2016,
130 Stat. 631, added item 46320.

2003—Pub. L. 108-176, title I, §185(b), Dec. 12, 2003, 117
Stat. 2518, added item 46319.

2000—Pub. L. 106-181, title V, §§509(b), 511(b), Apr. 5,
2000, 114 Stat. 141, 142, added items 46317 and 46318.

§46301. Civil penalties

(a) GENERAL PENALTY.—(1) A person is liable
to the United States Government for a civil pen-
alty of not more than $25,000 (or $1,100 if the per-
son is an individual or small business concern)
for violating—

(A) chapter 401 (except sections 40103(a) and
(d), 40105, 40116, and 40117), chapter 411, chapter
413 (except sections 41307 and 41310(b)-(f)),
chapter 415 (except sections 41502, 41505, and
41507-41509), chapter 417 (except sections 41703,
41704, 41710, 41713, and 41714), chapter 419, sub-
chapter II or IIT of chapter 421, chapter 423,
chapter 441 (except section 44109), section
44502(b) or (c), chapter 447 (except sections
44717 and 44719-44723), chapter 448, chapter 449
(except sections 44902, 44903(d), 44904,
44907(a)—(A)(1)(A) and (d)A)(C)-(f), and 44908),
chapter 451, section 47107(b) (including any as-
surance made under such section), or section
47133 of this title;

(B) a regulation prescribed or order issued
under any provision to which clause (A) of this
paragraph applies;

(C) any term of a certificate or permit issued
under section 41102, 41103, or 41302 of this title;
or

(D) a regulation of the United States Postal
Service under this part.

(2) A separate violation occurs under this sub-
section for each day the violation (other than a
violation of section 41719) continues or, if appli-
cable, for each flight involving the violation
(other than a violation of section 41719).

(3) PENALTY FOR DIVERSION OF AVIATION REVE-
NUES.—The amount of a civil penalty assessed
under this section for a violation of section
47107(b) of this title (or any assurance made
under such section) or section 47133 of this title
may be increased above the otherwise applicable
maximum amount under this section to an
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amount not to exceed 3 times the amount of rev-
enues that are used in violation of such section.

(4) AVIATION SECURITY VIOLATIONS.—Notwith-
standing paragraph (1) of this subsection, the
maximum civil penalty for violating chapter 449
shall be $10,000; except that the maximum civil
penalty shall be $25,000 in the case of a person
operating an aircraft for the transportation of
passengers or property for compensation (except
an individual serving as an airman).

(5) PENALTIES APPLICABLE TO INDIVIDUALS AND
SMALL BUSINESS CONCERNS.—

(A) An individual (except an airman serving
as an airman) or small business concern is lia-
ble to the Government for a civil penalty of
not more than $10,000 for violating—

(i) chapter 401 (except sections 40103(a) and

(d), 40105, 40106(b), 40116, and 40117), section

44502 (b) or (c), chapter 447 (except sections

44717-44723), chapter 448, chapter 449 (except

sections 44902, 44903(d), 44904, and

44907-44909), chapter 451, or section 46314(a)

of this title; or

(ii) a regulation prescribed or order issued
under any provision to which clause (i) ap-
plies.

(B) A civil penalty of not more than $10,000
may be imposed for each violation under para-
graph (1) committed by an individual or small
business concern related to—

(i) the transportation of hazardous mate-
rial;

(ii) the registration or recordation under
chapter 441 of an aircraft not used to provide
air transportation;

(iii) a violation of section 44718(d), relating
to the limitation on construction or estab-
lishment of landfills;

(iv) a violation of section 44725, relating to
the safe disposal of life-limited aircraft
parts; or

(v) a violation of section 40127 or section
41705, relating to discrimination.

(C) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), the max-
imum civil penalty for a violation of section
41719 committed by an individual or small
business concern shall be $5,000 instead of
$1,000.

(D) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), the max-
imum civil penalty for a violation of section
41712 (including a regulation prescribed or
order issued under such section) or any other
regulation prescribed by the Secretary of
Transportation by an individual or small busi-
ness concern that is intended to afford con-
sumer protection to commercial air transpor-
tation passengers shall be $2,500 for each viola-
tion.

(6) FAILURE To COLLECT AIRPORT SECURITY
BADGES1.—Notwithstanding paragraph (1), any
employer (other than a governmental entity or
airport operator) who employs an employee to
whom an airport security badge or other identi-
fier used to obtain access to a secure area of an
airport is issued before, on, or after the date of
enactment of this paragraph and who does not
collect or make reasonable efforts to collect

1S0 in original. Words following initial word in par. heading
probably should not be capitalized.
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such badge from the employee on the date that
the employment of the employee is terminated
and does not notify the operator of the airport
of such termination within 24 hours of the date
of such termination shall be liable to the Gov-
ernment for a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000.

(7) PENALTIES RELATING TO HARM TO PAS-
SENGERS WITH DISABILITIES 1.—

(A) PENALTY FOR BODILY HARM OR DAMAGE TO
WHEELCHAIR OR OTHER MOBILITY AID.—The
amount of a civil penalty assessed under this
section for a violation of section 41705 that in-
volves damage to a passenger’s wheelchair or
other mobility aid or injury to a passenger
with a disability may be increased above the
otherwise applicable maximum amount under
this section for a violation of section 41705 to
an amount not to exceed 3 times the max-
imum penalty otherwise allowed.

(B) EACH ACT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE OF-
FENSE.—Notwithstanding paragraph (2), a sep-
arate violation of section 41705 occurs for each
act of discrimination prohibited by that sec-
tion.

(b) SMOKE ALARM DEVICE PENALTY.—(1) A pas-
senger may not tamper with, disable, or destroy
a smoke alarm device located in a lavatory on
an aircraft providing air transportation or
intrastate air transportation.

(2) An individual violating this subsection is
liable to the Government for a civil penalty of
not more than $2,000.

(¢c) PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS.—(1) The Sec-
retary of Transportation may impose a civil
penalty for the following violations only after
notice and an opportunity for a hearing:

(A) a violation of subsection (b) of this sec-
tion or chapter 411, chapter 413 (except sec-
tions 41307 and 41310(b)—(f)), chapter 415 (except
sections 41502, 41505, and 41507-41509), chapter
417 (except sections 41703, 41704, 41710, 41713,
and 41714), chapter 419, subchapter II of chap-
ter 421, chapter 423, or section 44909 of this
title.

(B) a violation of a regulation prescribed or
order issued under any provision to which
clause (A) of this paragraph applies.

(C) a violation of any term of a certificate or
permit issued under section 41102, 41103, or
41302 of this title.

(D) a violation under subsection (a)(1) of this
section related to the transportation of haz-
ardous material.

(2) The Secretary shall give written notice of
the finding of a violation and the civil penalty
under paragraph (1) of this subsection.

(d) ADMINISTRATIVE IMPOSITION OF
ALTIES.—(1) In this subsection—

(A) ““flight engineer’” means an individual
who holds a flight engineer certificate issued
under part 63 of title 14, Code of Federal Regu-
lations.

(B) ‘“‘mechanic’” means an individual who
holds a mechanic certificate issued under part
65 of title 14, Code of Federal Regulations.

(C) “‘pilot” means an individual who holds a
pilot certificate issued under part 61 of title
14, Code of Federal Regulations.

(D) ‘“‘repairman’ means an individual who
holds a repairman certificate issued under
part 65 of title 14, Code of Federal Regulations.

PEN-
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(2) The Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration may impose a civil penalty for a
violation of chapter 401 (except sections 40103(a)
and (d), 40105, 40106(b), 40116, and 40117), chapter
441 (except section 44109), section 44502(b) or (c),
chapter 447 (except sections 44717 and
44719-44723), chapter 448, chapter 451, section
46301(b), section 46302 (for a violation relating to
section 46504), section 46318, section 46319, sec-
tion 46320, or section 47107(b) (as further defined
by the Secretary of Transportation under sec-
tion 47107(k) and including any assurance made
under section 47107(b)) of this title or a regula-
tion prescribed or order issued under any of
those provisions. The Secretary of Homeland Se-
curity may impose a civil penalty for a violation
of chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 44903(d),
44907(a)-(d)(1)(A), 44907(d)(1)(C)—(f), 44908, and
44909), section 46302 (except for a violation relat-
ing to section 46504), or section 46303 of this title
or a regulation prescribed or order issued under
any of those provisions. The Secretary of Home-
land Security or Administrator of the Federal
Aviation Administration shall give written no-
tice of the finding of a violation and the pen-
alty.

(3) In a civil action to collect a civil penalty
imposed by the Secretary of Homeland Security
or Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration under this subsection, the issues of
liability and the amount of the penalty may not
be reexamined.

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of this sub-
section, the district courts of the United States
have exclusive jurisdiction of a civil action in-
volving a penalty the Secretary of Homeland Se-
curity or Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration initiates if—

(A) the amount in controversy is more
than—

(i) $50,000 if the violation was committed
by any person before the date of enactment
of the Vision 100—Century of Aviation Reau-
thorization Act;

(ii) $400,000 if the violation was committed
by a person other than an individual or
small business concern on or after that date;
or

(iii) $50,000 if the violation was committed
by an individual or small business concern
on or after that date;

(B) the action is in rem or another action in
rem based on the same violation has been
brought;

(C) the action involves an aircraft subject to
a lien that has been seized by the Government;
or

(D) another action has been brought for an
injunction based on the same violation.

(5)(A) The Administrator of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration may issue an order impos-
ing a penalty under this subsection against an
individual acting as a pilot, flight engineer, me-
chanic, or repairman only after advising the in-
dividual of the charges or any reason the Ad-
ministrator of the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion relied on for the proposed penalty and pro-
viding the individual an opportunity to answer
the charges and be heard about why the order
shall not be issued.
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(B) An individual acting as a pilot, flight engi-
neer, mechanic, or repairman may appeal an
order imposing a penalty under this subsection
to the National Transportation Safety Board.
After notice and an opportunity for a hearing on
the record, the Board shall affirm, modify, or re-
verse the order. The Board may modify a civil
penalty imposed to a suspension or revocation of
a certificate.

(C) When conducting a hearing under this
paragraph, the Board is not bound by findings of
fact of the Administrator of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration but is bound by all validly
adopted interpretations of laws and regulations
the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration carries out and of written agency
policy guidance available to the public related
to sanctions to be imposed under this section
unless the Board finds an interpretation is arbi-
trary, capricious, or otherwise not according to
law.

(D) When an individual files an appeal with
the Board under this paragraph, the order of the
Administrator of the Federal Aviation Adminis-
tration is stayed.

(6) An individual substantially affected by an
order of the Board under paragraph (5) of this
subsection, or the Administrator of the Federal
Aviation Administration when the Adminis-
trator of the Federal Aviation Administration
decides that an order of the Board under para-
graph (5) will have a significant adverse impact
on carrying out this part, may obtain judicial
review of the order under section 46110 of this
title. The Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration shall be made a party to the ju-
dicial review proceedings. Findings of fact of the
Board are conclusive if supported by substantial
evidence.

(T)(A) The Administrator of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration may impose a penalty on a
person (except an individual acting as a pilot,
flight engineer, mechanic, or repairman) only
after notice and an opportunity for a hearing on
the record.

(B) In an appeal from a decision of an adminis-
trative law judge as the result of a hearing
under subparagraph (A) of this paragraph, the
Administrator of the Federal Aviation Adminis-
tration shall consider only whether—

(i) each finding of fact is supported by a pre-
ponderance of reliable, probative, and substan-
tial evidence;

(ii) each conclusion of law is made according
to applicable law, precedent, and public policy;
and

(iii) the judge committed a prejudicial error
that supports the appeal.

(C) Except for good cause, a civil action in-
volving a penalty under this paragraph may not
be initiated later than 2 years after the viola-
tion occurs.

(D) In the case of a violation of section 47107(b)
of this title or any assurance made under such
section—

(i) a civil penalty shall not be assessed
against an individual;

(ii) a civil penalty may be compromised as
provided under subsection (f); and

(iii) judicial review of any order assessing a
civil penalty may be obtained only pursuant
to section 46110 of this title.
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(8) The maximum civil penalty the Adminis-
trator of the Transportation Security Adminis-
tration, Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration, or Board may impose under this
subsection is—

(A) $50,000 if the violation was committed by
any person before the date of enactment of the
Vision 100—Century of Aviation Reauthoriza-
tion Act;

(B) $400,000 if the violation was committed
by a person other than an individual or small
business concern on or after that date; or

(C) $50,000 if the violation was committed by
an individual or small business concern on or
after that date.

(9) This subsection applies only to a violation
occurring after August 25, 1992.

(e) PENALTY CONSIDERATIONS.—In determining
the amount of a civil penalty under subsection
(a)(3) of this section related to transportation of
hazardous material, the Secretary of Transpor-
tation shall consider—

(1) the nature, circumstances, extent, and
gravity of the violation;

(2) with respect to the violator, the degree of
culpability, any history of prior violations,
the ability to pay, and any effect on the abil-
ity to continue doing business; and

(3) other matters that justice requires.

(f) COMPROMISE AND SETOFF.—(1)(A) The Sec-
retary may compromise the amount of a civil
penalty imposed for violating—

(i) chapter 401 (except sections 40103(a) and
(d), 40105, 40116, and 40117), chapter 441 (except
section 44109), section 44502(b) or (c), chapter
447 (except sections 44717 and 44719-44723),
chapter 448, chapter 449 (except sections 44902,
44903(d), 44904, 44907(a)—(d)(1)(A) and
(A)(1)(C)—(f), 44908, and 44909), or chapter 451 of
this title; or

(ii) a regulation prescribed or order issued
under any provision to which clause (i) of this
subparagraph applies.

(B) The Postal Service may compromise the
amount of a civil penalty imposed under sub-
section (a)(1)(D) of this section.

(2) The Government may deduct the amount of
a civil penalty imposed or compromised under
this subsection from amounts it owes the person
liable for the penalty.

(g) JUDICIAL REVIEW.—An order of the Sec-
retary or the Administrator of the Federal Avia-
tion Administration imposing a civil penalty
may be reviewed judicially only under section
46110 of this title.

(h) NONAPPLICATION.—(1) This section does not
apply to the following when performing official
duties:

(A) a member of the armed forces of the

United States.

(B) a civilian employee of the Department of

Defense subject to the Uniform Code of Mili-

tary Justice.

(2) The appropriate military authority is re-
sponsible for taking necessary disciplinary ac-
tion and submitting to the Secretary (or the Ad-
ministrator of the Transportation Security Ad-
ministration with respect to security duties and
powers designated to be carried out by the Ad-
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ministrator of the Transportation Security Ad-
ministration or the Administrator of the Fed-
eral Aviation Administration with respect to
aviation safety duties and powers designated to
be carried out by the Administrator of the Fed-
eral Aviation Administration) a timely report
on action taken.

(i) SMALL BUSINESS CONCERN DEFINED.—In this
section, the term ‘‘small business concern’ has
the meaning given that term in section 3 of the
Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. 632).

(Pub. L. 103-272, §1(e), July 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 1231;
Pub. L. 103-305, title I, §112(c), title II, §207(c),
Aug. 23, 1994, 108 Stat. 1575, 15688; Pub. L. 103429,
§6(60), Oct. 31, 1994, 108 Stat. 4385; Pub. L.
104-264, title V, §502(c), title VIII, §804(b), title
XII, §1220(b), Oct. 9, 1996, 110 Stat. 3263, 3271,
3286; Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77), Oct. 11, 1996, 110
Stat. 3396; Pub. L. 105-102, §3(c)(4), Nov. 20, 1997,
111 Stat. 2215; Pub. L. 106-181, title II, §222, title
V, §§503(c), 504(b), 519(c), title VII, §§707(b), 720,
Apr. 5, 2000, 114 Stat. 102, 133, 134, 149, 158, 163;
Pub. L. 106-424, §15, Nov. 1, 2000, 114 Stat. 1888;
Pub. L. 107-71, title I, §140(d)(1)—(4), Nov. 19, 2001,
115 Stat. 642; Pub. L. 107-296, title XVI, §1602,
Nov. 25, 2002, 116 Stat. 2312; Pub. L. 108-176, title
V, §503(a)-(c), Dec. 12, 2003, 117 Stat. 2557, 2558;
Pub. L. 108-458, title IV, §4027(a), Dec. 17, 2004,
118 Stat. 3727; Pub. L. 110-53, title XIII, §1302(b),
Aug. 3, 2007, 121 Stat. 392; Pub. L. 110-161, div. E,
title V, §542, Dec. 26, 2007, 121 Stat. 2079; Pub. L.
112-74, div. D, title V, §564(a), Dec. 23, 2011, 125
Stat. 981; Pub. L. 112-95, title IV, §415(b), title
VIII, §803, Feb. 14, 2012, 126 Stat. 96, 119; Pub. L.
113-188, title XV, §1501(b)(2)(B), Nov. 26, 2014, 128
Stat. 2024; Pub. L. 114-190, title II, §2205(b), July
15, 2016, 130 Stat. 631; Pub. L. 115-254, div. B, title
III, §372(e), title IV, §436, div. K, title I,
§1991(g)(1), Oct. 5, 2018, 132 Stat. 3312, 3344, 3643.)

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES
PuUB. L. 103-272

Revised

Section Source (U.S. Code)

Source (Statutes at Large)

46301(a) ...... 49 App.:1303 (note). Nov. 18, 1988,

100-690, §7214,

4434.

Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
§505 (last sentence), 72
Stat. 774.

Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
§901(a)(1) (less title VII),
72 Stat. 783; restated July
10, 1962, Pub. L. 87-528,
§12, 76 Stat. 149; Aug. 5,
1974, Pub. L. 93-366, §107,
88 Stat. 414; Jan. 3, 1975,
Pub. L. 93-633, §113(b> 88
Stat. 2162; Oct. 24, 1978,
Pub. L. 95-504, §35(a), 92
Stat. 1740; Aug. 8, 1985,
Pub. L. 99-83, §551(b)(2) 99
Stat. 225; Dec. 30, 1987
Pub. L. 100-223, §204(a%
(c), 101 Stat. 1519; Nov. 18,
1988, Pub. L. 100-690,
§7208(a), 102 Stat. 4429.

Oct. 15, 1966, Pub. L. 89-670,
§6(c)(1) 80 Stat. 938; Jan.

2, 1983, Pub. L. 974149
§7(b) 96 Stat. 2444.

Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
72 Stat. 731, §404(d)(2);
added Dec. 22 1987, Pub.
L. 100-202, §328(a) 101
Stat. 1329-383.

Pub. L.
102 Stat.

49 App.:1405 (last
sentence).

49 App.:1471(a)(1)
(1st, 2d sentences
less subchapter

49 App.:1655(c)(1).

46301(b) ...... 49 App.:1374(d)(2).

46301(c) ...... 49 App.:1471(a)(1)
(3d, 5th sentences
less subchapter
VII).

49 App.:1551(b)(1)(E). | Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
72 Stat. 731, §1601(b)(1)(E);
added Oct. 4, 1984, Pub. L.
98-443, §3(e), 98 Stat. 1704.
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HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES—CONTINUED
PUB. L. 103-272

};gg;lsfz Source (U.S. Code) Source (Statutes at Large)
46301(d)(1) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(H). | Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
72 Stat. 731, §901(a)(3)
(less (D)(v) (related to Ad-
ministrator under title
VII)); added Nov. 18, 1988,
Pub. L. 100-690, §7208(b),
102 Stat. 4429; restated
Aug. 26, 1992, Pub. L.
102-345, §2(a), 106 Stat.
923; Oct. 31, 1992, Pub. L.
102-581, §208, 106 Stat.
4895.
46301(d)(2) .. | 49 App.:1303 (note). Nov. 18, 1988, Pub. L.
100-690, §7214, 102 Stat.
4434.
49 App.:1471(a)(3)(A).
46301(d)(3) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(B).
46301(d)(4) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(C).
46301(d)(5) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)
B(D)A)=(1v).
46301(d)(6) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)
3)(D)(v) (less Ad-
ministrator under
subch. VII).
46301(d)(7) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(E).
46301(d)(8) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(G).
46301(d)(9) .. | 49 App.:1471(a)(3)(F).
46301(e) ...... 49 App.:1471(a)(1)
(4th sentence less
subchapter VII).
46301(f) ....... 49 App.:1471(a)(2) Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
(related to sub- §901(a)(2) (related to title
chapter III, V, VI, III, V, VI, or XII, §1101,
or XII, §1501, 1514, 1114, or 1115(e)(2)(B), and
or 1515(e)(2)(B), Postmaster General), 72
and Postal Serv- Stat. 784; July 10, 1962,
ice). Pub. L. 87-528, §12, 176
Stat. 150; restated Oct. 24,
1978, Pub. L. 95-504, §35(b),
92 Stat. 1740; Dec. 30, 1987,
Pub. L. 100-223, §204(d),
101 Stat. 1519.
49 App.:1551(b)(1)(E).
46301(g) ...... 49 App.:1471(a)(1)
(6th sentence less
subchapter VII).
49 App.:1551(b)(1)(E).
46301(h) ...... 49 App.:1471(a)(1)
(last sentence less
subchapter VII).
49 App.:1551(b)(1)(E).

In this section, the word ‘‘prescribed’ is added for
consistency in the revised title and with other titles of
the United States Code. The words ‘‘United States
Postal Service” and ‘‘Postal Service’ are substituted
for ‘‘Postmaster General’’ because of section 4(a) of the
Postal Reorganization Act (Public Law 91-375, 84 Stat.
773).

In subsections (a)(1)(C) and (c), the words ‘‘condition,
or limitation’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (a)(2), before clause (A), the words ‘‘oc-
curring after December 30, 1987 are omitted as obso-
lete.

In subsection (b)(1), the word ‘‘providing” is sub-
stituted for ‘‘engaged in’’ for consistency in the revised
title.

In subsection (b)(2), the words ‘‘in accordance with
section 1471 of this Appendix’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (c)(1), before clause (A), the words ‘‘or
his delegate’ are omitted because of 49:322(b). The word
“impose” is substituted for ‘‘assessed’ for consistency.
The words ‘‘amount of any such’ are omitted as sur-
plus.

In subsection (d), the word ‘‘impose’ is substituted
for ‘‘assess’ for consistency.

In subsection (d)(1), before clause (A), the words ‘‘the
following definitions apply’’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (d)(2), the text of section 7214 of the
Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988 (Public Law 100-690, 102
Stat 4434) is omitted as obsolete. The words ‘‘or the del-
egate of the Administrator” are omitted because of
49:322(b).

In subsection (d)(4)(C), the word ‘‘or’’ is substituted
for ‘‘and” for clarity.

In subsection (d)(56)(B) and (7)(A), the words ‘“‘in ac-
cordance with section 554 of title 5’ are omitted for
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consistency in the revised title and because 5:554 ap-
plies to a hearing on the record unless otherwise stat-
ed.

In subsection (d)(6)(B), the words ‘‘consistent with
this subsection’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (d)(5)(C), the word ‘‘Administrator’’ is
substituted for ‘‘Federal Aviation Administration’ be-
cause of 49:106(b) and (g).

In subsection (d)(7)(B), before clause (i), the words
‘‘as the result of a hearing under subparagraph (A) of
this paragraph’ are added for clarity.

In subsection (e), before clause (1), the words ‘‘civil
penalty under subsection (a)(3) of this section related
to transportation of hazardous material”” are sub-
stituted for ‘‘such penalty’ for clarity. In clause (1),
the word ‘‘committed’’ is omitted as surplus.

In subsection (£)(2), the word ‘‘imposed’ is sub-
stituted for ‘“when finally determined or fixed by order
of the Board’” for consistency. The words ‘‘agreed
upon’’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (g), the word ‘“‘imposing”’ is substituted
for ‘‘assessing’’ for consistency.

In subsection (h)(2), the words ‘‘with respect thereto”
are omitted as surplus. The word ‘‘Administrator’ in
section 901(a)(1) of the Federal Aviation Act of 1958
(Public Law 85-726, 72 Stat. 783) is retained on author-
ity of 49:106(g).

PUB. L. 103-429

This amends 49:46301(a)(1)(A) and (2)(A), (c)(1)(A),
(@)2), and ()(1)(A)({) to correct erroneous cross-ref-
erences.

PUB. L. 104-287, §5(77)(A) AND (B)

These amend 49:46301(a)(1)(A) and (2)(A) to correct er-
rors in the codification enacted by section 1 of the Act
of July 5, 1994 (Public Law 103-272, 108 Stat. 1231), to in-
clude in the cross-reference sections enacted after the
cutoff date for the codification of title 49 as enacted by
section 1 of the Act (Public Law 103-272, 108 Stat. 745),
and to make it easier to include future sections in the
cross-reference by restating it in terms of chapters.

PUB. L. 104-287, §5(77)(C)
This makes a conforming amendment to 49:46301(a)(3).
PUB. L. 104-287, §5(T7T)(D)—(F)

These amend 49:46301(c)(1)(A), (d)(2), and (f)(1)(A)({) to
correct errors in the codification enacted by section 1
of the Act of July 5, 1994 (Public Law 103-272, 108 Stat.
1231), to include in the cross-reference sections enacted
after the cutoff date for the codification of title 49 as
enacted by section 1 of the Act (Public Law 103-272, 108
Stat. 745), and to make it easier to include future sec-
tions in the cross-reference by restating it in terms of
chapters.

Editorial Notes

REFERENCES IN TEXT

The date of enactment of this paragraph, referred to
in subsec. (a)(6), is the date of enactment of Pub. L.
110-161, which was approved Dec. 26, 2007.

The date of enactment of the Vision 100—Century of
Aviation Reauthorization Act, referred to in subsec.
(d)(4)(A), (8), is the date of enactment of Pub. L. 108-176,
which was approved Dec. 12, 2003.

AMENDMENTS

2018—Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 115-254, §372(e)(1), in-
serted ‘‘chapter 448,” after ‘‘chapter 447 (except sec-
tions 44717 and 44719-44723),”.

Subsec. (a)(5)(A)(1). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(A)(),
substituted ‘‘chapter 451" for ‘‘or chapter 451”°.

Pub. L. 115-254, §372(e)(2), inserted ‘‘chapter 448,”
after ‘‘chapter 447 (except sections 44717-44723),” .

Subsec. (a)(5)(D). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(A)(ii), in-
serted ‘‘of Transportation’ after ‘‘Secretary’.



§46301

Subsec. (a)(7). Pub. L. 115-254, §436, added par. (7).

Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(B)(1), sub-
stituted ‘‘defined by the Secretary of Transportation’
for ‘‘defined by the Secretary’ and ‘‘Administrator of
the Federal Aviation Administration shall’” for ‘‘Ad-
ministrator shall”.

Pub. L. 115-254, §372(e)(3), inserted ‘‘chapter 448,”
after ‘‘chapter 447 (except sections 44717 and
44719-44723),”.

Subsec. (d)(3) to (7). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(B)(ii),
substituted ‘‘Administrator of the Federal Aviation Ad-
ministration” for ‘““‘Administrator’ wherever appearing.

Subsec. (d)(8). Pub. L. 115254, §1991(g)(1)(B)(ii), (iii),
substituted ‘‘Administrator of the Transportation Se-
curity Administration” for ‘Under Secretary’” and
‘““‘Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion” for ‘‘Administrator’ in introductory provisions.

Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(C), inserted ‘‘of
Transportation’ after ‘‘Secretary’ in introductory pro-
visions.

Subsec. (H)(1)(A)(@). Pub. L. 115-254, §372(e)(4), inserted
‘“‘chapter 448, after ‘‘chapter 447 (except sections 44717
and 44719-44723),”.

Subsec. (g). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(D), substituted
““Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion” for ‘“‘Administrator”.

Subsec. (h)(2). Pub. L. 115-254, §1991(g)(1)(E), sub-
stituted ‘‘Administrator of the Transportation Secu-
rity Administration with respect to security duties and
powers designated to be carried out by the Adminis-
trator of the Transportation Security Administration
or the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Adminis-
tration with respect to aviation safety duties and pow-
ers designated to be carried out by the Administrator
of the Federal Aviation Administration” for ‘“Under
Secretary of Transportation for Security with respect
to security duties and powers designated to be carried
out by the Under Secretary or the Administrator with
respect to aviation safety duties and powers designated
to be carried out by the Administrator’.

2016—Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 114-190 inserted ‘‘section
46320, after ‘‘section 46319,”.

2014—Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 113-188 substituted ‘‘sec-
tion 47107(k)”’ for ‘‘section 47107(1).

2012—Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 112-95, §803(1), inserted
‘“‘chapter 451,” before ‘‘section 47107(b)”’.

Pub. L. 112-95, §415(b), inserted ‘‘chapter 423,” after
‘“‘chapter 421,”.

Subsec. (a)(5)(A)(1). Pub. L. 112-95, §803(2)(B), inserted
‘“, or chapter 451" after ‘‘44907-44909)"".

Pub. L. 112-95, §803(2)(A), which directed the substi-
tution of ‘‘chapter 449 for ‘‘or chapter 449, could not
be executed because of the prior amendment by Pub. L.
112-74, §564(a). See 2011 Amendment note below.

Subsec. (¢)(1)(A). Pub. L. 112-95, §415(b), inserted
‘“‘chapter 423,” after ‘‘chapter 421,”.
Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 112-95, §803(3), substituted

444723), chapter 451, for ‘‘44723) or”’, ‘‘section 46302’ for
46302, ‘‘section 46318, section 46319, or section
47107(b)”’ for ‘46318, or 47107(b)”’ in first sentence , and
‘“‘section 46302’ for ‘‘46302’°, ‘‘or section 46303 of this
title” for ¢46303,”, and ‘‘any of those provisions’ for
“‘such chapter 449’ in second sentence.

Subsec. (£)(1)(A)(1). Pub. L. 112-95, §803(4), substituted
‘“‘chapter 449 for ‘‘or chapter 449 and inserted ‘‘, or
chapter 451 after ‘44909)’.

2011—Subsec. (a)(5)(A)(1). Pub. L. 112-74 substituted
‘“‘chapter 449 for ‘‘or chapter 449 and inserted ‘‘, or
section 46314(a)” after ‘*44909)".

2007—Subsec. (a)(4). Pub. L. 110-53 struck out ‘‘or an-
other requirement under this title administered by the
Under Secretary of Transportation for Security’ after
‘“‘chapter 449”.

Subsec. (a)(6). Pub. L. 110-161 added par. (6).

2004—Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 108-458, §4027(a)(1)-(3),
substituted ‘46302 (for a violation relating to section
46504),” for ‘46302, 46303,”’, ‘‘The Secretary of Homeland
Security may’’ for ‘“The Under Secretary of Transpor-
tation for Security may’’, ‘44909), 46302 (except for a
violation relating to section 46504), 46303,” for ‘‘44909)",
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and ‘‘The Secretary of Homeland Security or’’ for ‘‘The
Under Secretary or’’.

Subsec. (d)(3). Pub. L. 108-458, §4027(a)(3), substituted
‘“‘Secretary of Homeland Security or” for ‘‘Under Sec-
retary or’’.

Subsec. (d)(4). Pub. L. 108-458, §4027(a)(3), substituted
“Secretary of Homeland Security or” for ‘“Under Sec-
retary or”’ in introductory provisions.

Subsec. (d)(4)(A). Pub. L. 108-458, §4027(a)(4), realigned
margins.

2003—Subsec. (a)(1). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(1), sub-
stituted ‘“$25,000 (or $1,100 if the person is an individual
or small business concern)’’ for ‘‘$1,000”’ in introductory
provisions.

Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(2), (3), struck
out ‘‘or”” before ‘‘section 47107(b)”’ and substituted ‘‘sec-
tion), or section 47133 for ‘‘section)”’.

Subsec. (a)(2). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(5), substituted
‘‘section 41719 for ‘‘section 41715 in two places.

Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), redesignated par. (4) as (2)
and struck out former par. (2) which read as follows: ‘A
person operating an aircraft for the transportation of
passengers or property for compensation (except an air-
man serving as an airman) is liable to the Government
for a civil penalty of not more than $10,000 for vio-
lating—

““(A) chapter 401 (except sections 40103(a) and (d),
40105, 40106(b), 40116, and 40117), section 44502(b) or (c),
chapter 447 (except sections 44717-44723), or chapter
449 (except sections 44902, 44903(d), 44904, and
44907-44909) of this title; or

‘“(B) a regulation prescribed or order issued under
any provision to which clause (A) of this paragraph
applies.”’

Subsec. (a)(3). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), redesignated
par. (5) as (3) and struck out former par. (3) which read
as follows: ““A civil penalty of not more than $10,000
may be imposed for each violation under paragraph (1)
of this subsection related to

“(A) the transportation of hazardous material;

‘(B) the registration or recordation under chapter
441 of this title of an aircraft not used to provide air
transportation;

‘“(C) a violation of section 44718(d), relating to the
limitation on construction or establishment of land-
fills;

‘(D) a violation of section 44725, relating to the safe
disposal of life-limited aircraft parts; or

“(E) a violation of section 41705, relating to dis-
crimination against handicapped individuals.”
Subsec. (a)(4). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(6), substituted

“‘paragraph (1) for ‘‘paragraphs (1) and (2)”.

Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), redesignated par. (8) as (4).
Former par. (4) redesignated (2).

Subsec. (a)(5). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(7), added par.
(5). Former par. (5) redesignated (3).

Subsec. (a)(6). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), struck out
heading and text of par. (6). Text read as follows: ‘‘Not-
withstanding paragraph (1), the maximum civil penalty
for violating section 41715 shall be $5,000 instead of
$1,000.”

Subsec. (a)(7). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), struck out
heading and text of par. (7). Text read as follows: ‘‘Not-
withstanding paragraphs (1) and (4), the maximum civil
penalty for violating section 40127 or 41712 (including a
regulation prescribed or order issued under such sec-
tion) or any other regulation prescribed by the Sec-
retary that is intended to afford consumer protection
to commercial air transportation passengers, shall be
$2,500 for each violation.”

Subsec. (a)(8). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(a)(4), redesignated
par. (8) as (4).

Subsec. (d)(4)(A). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(b)(1), sub-
stituted ‘“‘more than— for ‘“‘more than $50,000;” and
added cls. (i) to (iii).

Subsec. (d)(8). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(b)(2), substituted
“‘is—"’ for ‘‘is $50,000.”” and added subpars. (A) to (C).

Subsec. (i). Pub. L. 108-176, §503(c), added subsec. (i).

2002—Subsec. (a)(8). Pub. L. 107-296 added par. (8).

2001—Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(1)(C), in-
serted ‘“‘Under Secretary or’ before ‘Administrator
shall”.



Page 1453

Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(1)(B), inserted after first sen-
tence ‘‘The Under Secretary of Transportation for Se-
curity may impose a civil penalty for a violation of
chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 44903(d),
44907(a)—(d)(1)(A), 44907(d)(1)(C)—(f), 44908, and 44909) or a
regulation prescribed or order issued under such chap-
ter 449.”

Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(1)(A), which directed amend-
ment of subsec. (d)(2) by striking out ‘‘, chapter 449 (ex-
cept sections 44902, 44903(d), 44907(a)-(d)(1)(A) and
(A)Q)(C)—(f), 44908, and 44909),”, was executed by strik-
ing out ‘‘, chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 44903(d),
44904, 44907(a)-(d)(1)(A) and (A(D)(C)—(f), 44908, and
44909),”” before ‘‘or section 46301(b)”’, to reflect the prob-
able intent of Congress.

Subsec. (d)(3), (4). Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(2), sub-
stituted ‘‘Under Secretary or Administrator” for ‘‘Ad-
ministrator”.

Subsec. (d)(8). Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(3), substituted
“Under Secretary, Administrator,” for ‘Adminis-
trator”.

Subsec. (h)(2). Pub. L. 107-71, §140(d)(4), inserted ‘‘the
Under Secretary of Transportation for Security with
respect to security duties and powers designated to be
carried out by the Under Secretary or’’ after ‘‘(or”.

2000—Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 106-181, §§519(c), 720(1),
substituted ‘‘subchapter II or III of chapter 421"’ for
‘“‘subchapter II of chapter 421" and struck out 46302,
46303, or’’ before ‘*47107(b) (including”’.

Subsec. (a)(3)(C). Pub. L. 106-181, §503(c), added sub-
par. (C).

Subsec. (2)(3)(D), (E). Pub. L. 106-181, §§504(b), 707(b),
added subpars. (D) and (E).

Subsec. (a)(6). Pub. L. 106-181, §222(b), inserted head-
ing and realigned margins.

Subsec. (a)(7). Pub. L. 106-181, §222(a), added par. (7).

Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 106424 substituted 46301(b),
46302, 46303, 46318,”" for ‘46302, 46303,”".

Subsec. (A)(T)(A). Pub. L. 106-181, §720(2), substituted
‘“‘a penalty on a person’ for ‘‘a penalty on an indi-
vidual”.

Subsec. (g). Pub. L. 106-181, §720(3), inserted ‘‘or the
Administrator” after ‘“‘Secretary’’.

1997—Subsecs. (a)(1)(A), (2)(A), (A)(2), (H(D)(A)E). Pub.
L. 105-102 repealed Pub. L. 104-264, §§502(c), 1220(b). See
1996 Amendment notes below.

1996—Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(A)(iii),
(iv), inserted ‘‘or’’ after ‘46303, and struck out ‘‘, or
41715 after ‘‘under such section)”’.

Pub. L. 104287, §5(77)(A)(ii), substituted ‘‘section
44502(b) or (c), chapter 447 (except sections 44717 and
44719-44723), chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 44903(d),
44904, 44907(a)—(d)(1)(A) and (A)(1)(C)—(f), and 44908), or
section” for ‘“‘or any of sections 44701(a) or (b),
44702-44716, 44901, 44903(b) or (c), 44905, 44906,
44907(d)(1)(B), 44909(a), 44912-44915, 44932-44938,”".

Pub. L. 104-287, §5(7T)(A)(i), substituted ‘‘chapter 413
(except sections 41307 and 41310(b)—(f)), chapter 415 (ex-
cept sections 41502, 41505, and 41507-41509), chapter 417
(except sections 41703, 41704, 41710, 41713, and 41714),” for
“any of sections 4130141306, 41308-41310(a), 41501, 41503,
41504, 41506, 41510, 41511, 41701, 41702, 41705-41709, 41711,
41712, or 41731-41742,’.

Pub. L. 104-264, §1220(b), which directed amendment
of subpar. (A) by inserting 44718(d),” after 44716,”,
was repealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Pub. L. 104264, §502(c)(1), which directed amendment
of subpar. (A) by inserting 44724,” after 44718(d),”’,
was repealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Subsec. (a)(2)(A). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(B), sub-
stituted ‘¢, section 44502(b) or (c), chapter 447 (except
sections 44717-44723), or chapter 449 (except sections
44902, 44903(d), 44904, and 44907-44909)” for ‘‘or any of
sections 44701(a) or (b), 44702-44716, 44901, 44903(b) or (c),
44905, 44906, 44912-44915, or 44932-44938"".

Pub. L. 104-264, §502(c)(2), which directed amendment
of subpar. (A) by inserting ‘44724, after ‘‘44716,”, was
repealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Subsec. (a)(3). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(C),
margins of subpars. (A) and (B).
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TITLE 49—TRANSPORTATION

§46301

Subsec. (a)(b). Pub. L. 104-264, §804(b), amended par.
(5) generally. Prior to amendment, par. (56) read as fol-
lows: “In the case of a violation of section 47107(b) of
this title, the maximum civil penalty for a continuing
violation shall not exceed $50,000.”

Subsec. (c)(1)(A). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(D)(ii), (iii),
struck out ‘‘or’”’ before ‘‘subchapter II’’ and inserted
‘“, or section 44909’ before ‘‘of this title’.

Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(D)(i), substituted ‘‘chapter 413
(except sections 41307 and 41310(b)-(f)), chapter 415 (ex-
cept sections 41502, 41505, and 41507-41509), chapter 417
(except sections 41703, 41704, 41710, 41713, and 41714),” for
“‘any of sections 41301-41306, 41308-41310(a), 41501, 41503,
41504, 41506, 41510, 41511, 41701, 41702, 4170541709, 41711,
41712, or 41731-41742,”.

Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(E), substituted
‘“‘section 44502(b) or (c), chapter 447 (except sections
44717 and 44719-44723), chapter 449 (except sections 44902,
44903(d), 44904, 44907(a)—(d)(1)(A) and (d)(1)(C)—(f), 44908,
and 44909), or section’ for ‘‘or any of sections 44701(a)
or (b), 44702-44716, 44901, 44903(b) or (c), 44905, 44906,
44907(d)(1)(B), 44912-44915, 44932-44938,"".

Pub. L. 104-264, §1220(b), which directed amendment
of par. (2) by inserting ‘‘44718(d),” after ‘‘44716,”’, was re-
pealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Pub. L. 104264, §502(c)(1), which directed amendment
of par. (2) by inserting ‘‘44724,” after ‘‘44718(d),”’, was re-
pealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Subsec. (HH(1)(A)(E). Pub. L. 104-287, §5(77)(F), sub-
stituted ‘‘section 44502(b) or (c), chapter 447 (except sec-
tions 44717 and 44719-44723), or chapter 449 (except sec-
tions 44902, 44903(d), 44904, 44907(a)—(d)(1)(A) and
(A)(1)(C)—(f), 44908, and 44909)” for ‘‘or any of sections
44701(a) or (b), 44702-44716, 44901, 44903(b) or (c), 44905,
44906, 44907(d)(1)(B), 4491244915, or 44932-44938"°.

Pub. L. 104-264, §1220(b), which directed amendment
of cl. (i) by inserting ‘‘44718(d),”” after ‘‘44716,”, was re-
pealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

Pub. L. 104-264, §502(c)(1), which directed amendment
of cl. (i) by inserting ‘‘44724,” after ‘‘44718(d),”’, was re-
pealed by Pub. L. 105-102.

1994—Subsec. (a)(1)(A). Pub. L. 103-429, §6(60)(A), sub-
stituted ‘‘any of sections 41301-41306° for ‘‘section
41301-41306"" and ‘‘any of sections 44701(a)’’ for ‘‘section
44701(a)”.

Pub. L. 103-305, §207(c)(1), inserted ‘‘, or 41715’ before
“‘of this title”.

Pub. L. 103-305, §112(c)(1)(A), substituted 46303,
47107(b) (including any assurance made under such sec-
tion)”’ for ‘‘or 46303".

Subsec. (a)(2)(A). Pub. L.
stituted ‘‘any of sections
44701(a)”.

Subsec. (a)(4). Pub. L. 103-305, §207(c)(2), inserted
‘‘(other than a violation of section 41715) after ‘‘the
violation’ in two places.

Subsec. (a)(5). Pub. L. 103-305, §112(c)(1)(B), added par.
(5).
Subsec. (a)(6). Pub. L. 103-305, §207(c)(3), added par.

103-429, §6(60)(B), sub-
44701(a)” for ‘‘section

(6).

Subsec. (c)(1)(A). Pub. L. 103-429, §6(60)(C), sub-
stituted ‘‘any of sections 41301-41306° for ‘‘section
41301-41306"".

Subsec. (d)(2). Pub. L. 103-429, §6(60)(B), substituted
‘“‘any of sections 44701(a)”’ for ‘‘section 44701(a)’’.

Pub. L. 103-305, §112(c)(2), substituted ‘46303, or
47107(b) (as further defined by the Secretary under sec-
tion 47107(1) and including any assurance made under
section 47107(b))”’ for ‘‘or 46303”’.

Subsec. (d)(7)(D). Pub. L. 103-305, §112(c)(3), added sub-

par. (D).

Subsec. (H)(1)(A){E). Pub. L. 103429, §6(60)(B), sub-
stituted ‘‘any of sections 44701(a)” for ‘‘section
44701(a)”.

Statutory Notes and Related Subsidiaries
EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2003 AMENDMENT

Amendment by Pub. L. 108-176 applicable only to fis-
cal years beginning after Sept. 30, 2003, except as other-
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wise specifically provided, see section 3 of Pub. L.
108-176, set out as a note under section 106 of this title.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2002 AMENDMENT

Amendment by Pub. L. 107-296 effective 60 days after
Nov. 25, 2002, see section 4 of Pub. L. 107-296, set out as
an Effective Date note under section 101 of Title 6, Do-
mestic Security.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 2000 AMENDMENT

Amendment by Pub. L. 106-181 applicable only to fis-
cal years beginning after Sept. 30, 1999, see section 3 of
Pub. L. 106-181, set out as a note under section 106 of
this title.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1997 AMENDMENT

Pub. L. 105-102, §3(c), Nov. 20, 1997, 111 Stat. 2215, pro-
vided that the amendment made by section 3(c)(4) is ef-
fective Oct. 9, 1996.

Amendment by Pub. L. 105-102 effective as if included
in the provisions of the Act to which the amendment
relates, see section 3(f) of Pub. L. 105-102, set out as a
note under section 106 of this title.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1996 AMENDMENTS

Amendment by Pub. L. 104-287 effective July 5, 1994,
see section 8(1) of Pub. L. 104-287, set out as a note
under section 5303 of this title.

Amendment by section 502(c) of Pub. L. 104-264 appli-
cable to any air carrier hiring an individual as a pilot
whose application was first received by the carrier on
or after the 120th day following Oct. 9, 1996, see section
502(d) of Pub. L. 104-264, set out as a note under section
30305 of this title.

Except as otherwise specifically provided, amend-
ment by Pub. L. 104-264 applicable only to fiscal years
beginning after Sept. 30, 1996, and not to be construed
as affecting funds made available for a fiscal year end-
ing before Oct. 1, 1996, see section 3 of Pub. L. 104-264,
set out as a note under section 106 of this title.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF 1994 AMENDMENTS

Amendment by Pub. L. 103-429 effective July 5, 1994,
see section 9 of Pub. L. 103429, set out as a note under
section 321 of this title.

Amendment by section 207(c) of Pub. L. 103-305 effec-
tive Feb. 1, 1995, see section 207(d) of Pub. L. 103-305, set
out as an Effective Date note under section 41719 of this
title.

SAVINGS PROVISION

Pub. L. 102-345, §2(c), Aug. 26, 1992, 106 Stat. 925, pro-
vided that: “Notwithstanding subsections (a) and (b) of
this section, sections 901(a)(3) and 905 of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958 [Pub. L. 85-726] as in effect on July
31, 1992, shall continue in effect on and after such date
of enactment with respect to violations of the Federal
Aviation Act of 1958 occurring before such date of en-
actment.”

LASER POINTER INCIDENTS

Pub. L. 114-190, title II, §2104, July 15, 2016, 130 Stat.
620, provided that:

‘‘(a) IN GENERAL.—Beginning 90 days after the date of
enactment of this Act [July 15, 2016], the Administrator
of the Federal Aviation Administration, in coordina-
tion with appropriate Federal law enforcement agen-
cies, shall provide quarterly updates to the appropriate
committees of Congress [Committee on Commerce,
Science, and Transportation of the Senate and Com-
mittee on Transportation and Infrastructure of the
House of Representatives] regarding—

‘(1) the number of incidents involving the beam
from a laser pointer (as defined in section 39A of title
18, United States Code) being aimed at, or in the
flight path of, an aircraft in the airspace jurisdiction
of the United States;

‘(2) the number of civil or criminal enforcement ac-
tions taken by the Federal Aviation Administration,
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the Department of Transportation, or another Fed-

eral agency with regard to the incidents described in

paragraph (1), including the amount of the civil or
criminal penalties imposed on violators;

‘“(3) the resolution of any incidents described in
paragraph (1) that did not result in a civil or criminal
enforcement action; and

‘“(4) any actions the Department of Transportation
or another Federal agency has taken on its own, or in
conjunction with other Federal agencies or local law
enforcement agencies, to deter the type of activity
described in paragraph (1).

“(b) CIviL PENALTIES.—The Administrator shall re-
vise the maximum civil penalty that may be imposed
on an individual who aims the beam of a laser pointer
at an aircraft in the airspace jurisdiction of the United
States, or at the flight path of such an aircraft, to be
$25,000.”

§46302. False information

(a) CIVIL PENALTY.—A person that, knowing
the information to be false, gives, or causes to
be given, under circumstances in which the in-
formation reasonably may be believed, false in-
formation about an alleged attempt being made
or to be made to do an act that would violate
section 46502(a), 46504, 46505, or 46506 of this title,
is liable to the United States Government for a
civil penalty of not more than $10,000 for each
violation.

(b) COMPROMISE AND SETOFF.—(1) The Sec-
retary of Homeland Security and, for a violation
relating to section 46504, the Secretary of Trans-
portation, may compromise the amount of a
civil penalty imposed under subsection (a) of
this section.

(2) The Government may deduct the amount of
a civil penalty imposed or compromised under
this section from amounts it owes the person
liable for the penalty.

(Pub. L. 103-272, §1(e), July 5, 1994, 108 Stat. 1234;
Pub. L. 108-458, title IV, §4027(b), Dec. 17, 2004,
118 Stat. 3727.)

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES

Revised

Source (U.S. Code) Source (Statutes at Large)

Section
46302(a) ...... 49 App.:1471(c). Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
72 Stat. 731, §901(c); added
Oct. 12, 1984, Pub. L.
98-473, §2014(a)(1), 98 Stat.
2189.
46302(b) ...... 49 App.:1471(a)(2) Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,

(related to
1471(c)).

§901(a)(2) (related to
§901(c)), 72 Stat. 784; July
10, 1962, Pub. L. 87-528,
§12, 76 Stat. 150; restated
Oct. 24, 1978, Pub. L.
95-504, §35(b), 92 Stat. 1740;
Oct. 12, 1984, Pub. L.
98473, §2014(b), 98 Stat.
2189.

49 App.:1551(b)(1)(E). | Aug. 23, 1958, Pub. L. 85-726,
72 Stat. 731, §1601(b)(1)(E);
added Oct. 4, 1984, Pub. L.
98443, §3(e), 98 Stat. 1704.

In subsection (a), the words ‘‘gives, or causes to be
given’ are substituted for ‘‘imparts or conveys or
causes to be imparted or conveyed’ to eliminate unnec-
essary words. The words ‘“‘attempt or’, ‘‘a crime”’, and
‘“‘which shall be recoverable in a civil action brought in
the name of the United States’ are omitted as surplus.

In subsection (b)(1), the words ‘‘imposed under’’ are
substituted for ‘‘provided for in’’ for consistency.

In subsection (b)(2), the words ‘‘imposed or com-
promised” are substituted for ‘“The amount of such
penalty when finally determined or fixed by order of
the Board, or the amount agreed upon in compromise’’
to eliminate unnecessary words.
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